## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GUERRY WAYNE HERTZ,				
Appellant,				
vs. STATE OF FLORIDA,	<b>Case No. SC05-59</b> L. C. No. 97-214-CF			
Appellee.				
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT				
On Direct Appeal From A Final Order Judicial Circuit, In And For Wakul Florida Rules Of Criminal Proced Conviction Relief, As Am	lure 3.850/3.851 Motion For Post			

CLYDE M. TAYLOR, JR., ESQ. 119 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301 Tel. 850.224.9115 Fax. 850.681.6362 Fla. Bar No. 129747 Counsel for Appellant, Guerry Wayne Hertz

#

Issue I.		
THAT DE FOR FAI EVIDENCE	THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FIFENSE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFELING TO PRESENT ALL AVAIL OF MENTAL HEALTH MITIGATION DELTY PHASE OF THE STATE COURT TR	ECTIVE LABLE URING

A CONVINCING MANNER, AND THAT PREJUDICE RESULTED, AND THEREFORE, HERTZ' RIGHT TO COUNSEL AS PROTECTED BY AMENDMENTS VI AND XIV, UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, WERE VIOLATED?

A	٠.	Standard Of Appellate Review
В		Merits
Conclus	sion	
Certifica	ate of	Service
Certific	ate of	Compliance

# **TABLE OF CITATIONS**

<u>Cases</u> <u>Page(s)</u>
<i>Bruno v.</i> State, 807 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 2001)
Deaton v. Dugger, 635 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1993)
Foster v. State, 778 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 2000)
Heiney v. State, 620 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1993)
<i>Hertz v. Florida</i> , 536 U.S. 963 (1963)
Hertz v. State, 803 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 2001) 5-10, 21, 22, 62
Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1995)
Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993)
Hurst v. State, 819 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 2002)
Johnson v. State, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001)
Phillips v. State, 608 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1992)
Ragsdale v. State, 798 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 2001)
Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996)
State v. Lara, 581 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 1991)
State v. Lewis, 838 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 2002)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412 (1985)
<i>Witherspoon v. Illinois</i> , 391 U.S. 510 (1968)

# Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Rules

Amend. VI, U.S. Const
Amend. XIV, U.S. Const
Art. I, Sec. 16, Fla. Const
Art. V, Sec. 2, Fla. Const
Art. V, Sec. 3(b), Fla. Const
Sec. 921.141(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1996)
Sec. 921.141(5), Fla. Stat. (1996)
Sec. 921.141(6), Fla. Stat. (1996)
Sec. 921.141(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1996)
55, 56, 62, 64
Sec. 921.141(6)(f), Fla. Stat. (1996)
Sec. 921.141(6)(g), Fla. Stat. (1996)
Sec. 921.141(6)(h), Fla. Stat. (1996)
Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I)
Fla. R. App. P. 9.210
Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850
Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(g)
Fla R Crim P 3 851 1 23 43

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Guerry Wayne Hertz, a co-defendant below, is the appellant in this proceeding. He will be referred to as the "defendant," "Guerry" or "Hertz." The State of Florida, plaintiff below, is the appellee. It will be referred to as "the state."

The post conviction record on appeal is in three volumes. Volume I contains Hertz' complete Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851 motion for post conviction relief and part of the state's response thereto. Volume II contains the remainder of the state's response to the post conviction motion, additional pleadings, and a part of the evidentiary hearing transcript held regarding certain issues contained in the post conviction motion. Volume III contains the remainder of the transcript of the evidentiary hearing on the post conviction motion as well as the trial court's order denying the post conviction motion and other documents. The clerk has placed a page number in the lower right hand corner of each page of the record on appeal. Thus, references to the post conviction record will be by the letter "R" (for record on appeal) followed by a volume and page

-

Hertz was permitted to file an amended motion setting forth in detail the claim that his defense counsel failed to present all mitigating evidence extant at the time of the penalty phase of his state court trial. (R. Vol. II, pp. 309-316) The state filed a response specifically denying this claim. (R. Vol. II, pp. 328-330)

number. It is noted that the court reporter has provided a page number for each page of the above referenced evidentiary hearing transcript in the upper right hand corner of each page. Thus, when referring to this transcript, appellant includes the "R" number provided by the clerk appearing at the bottom of each page as well as the court reporter's page number (referenced by the letters "EH" followed by a page number).

References to the record on appeal in Hertz' direct appeal of his judgments and death sentences will be by the letters "OR" (for original record), followed by a volume and page number.

All emphasis is added by appellant unless indicated otherwise.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

#### A. Nature Of The Case

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida from a final order (R. Vol. III, pp. 492-503) in *State v. Guerry Wayne Hertz, et. al*, Case No. 97-214-CF, rendered by the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Wakulla County, Florida, Hon. N. Sanders Sauls, Circuit Judge, presiding, denying Hertz' motion for post conviction relief, as amended, filed per the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851.

#### B. Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower court order denying Hertz' Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851 motion for post conviction relief per the provisions of Article V, Section 3(b), Florida Constitution, Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I), and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(g).

### C. Course Of The Proceedings

On August 26, 1997, co-defendants Guerry Wayne Hertz, Jason Brice Looney, and Jimmy Dempsey were indicted for the first degree murders of Melanie King and Robin Spears committed on July 27, 1997 in Wakulla County, Florida. They were also indicted for armed burglary of a dwelling, armed robbery with a firearm, arson of a dwelling, and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (R. Vol. I, p. 58; OR Vol. I, pp. 1-3) The defense was notified that the state intended to seek the death penalty. (R. Vol. I, p. 58; OR Vol. I, p. 13) A host of pretrial motions followed.

On April 7, 1999, a hearing was held on Hertz' motion to determine competency. (R. Vol. I, p. 58; OR Vol. III, pp. 216-475) Dr. Michael D'Errico found that he suffered from Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). (OR Vol. III, pp. 329-336) He attempted suicide at age 18. (OR Vol. III, p. 337) Dr. D'Errico determined that Hertz was not competent to stand trial, but with treatment he could become competent.

(OR Vol. III, pp. 342-345) He admitted that Hertz could have been malingering and, if so, that would change his conclusion. (OR Vol. III, p. 359) Dr. Joseph Sesta, a neuropsychologist, examined this defendant and also found Hertz to be incompetent to assist his attorneys at trial. (OR Vol. III, pp. 380-382) Dr. Thomas Conger, a clinical psychologist retained by the state, tested Hertz regarding competency as well. Although agreeing with many of Dr. Sesta's findings, Dr. Conger determined that Hertz did not want to perform well on the tests he administered and was competent to stand trial. (OR Vol. III, pp. 412, 414-418) A Wakulla County Sheriff's deputy testified that on one occasion when Hertz was being transported back to the jail, he said that he intended to bang his head against his cell and make a mess. (OR, Vol. III, pp. 438-441) Judge Sauls ruled, based upon the doctors' reports and testimony, that Hertz was competent to assist his attorney and stand trial. (OR. Vol. III, p. 473)

The trial including jury selection commenced on November 29, 1999 and concluded some 10 days later.<sup>2</sup> Hertz was found guilty of two counts of first-degree murder, burglary of a dwelling while armed with a firearm, armed robbery with a firearm, arson of a dwelling, and the use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. (R. Vol. I, p. 58, 59; OR Vol. XX, pp. 2177-

Prior to trial, Dempsey plead guilty in exchange for a life sentence, and testified against Looney and Hertz.

2180) The penalty phase of the proceedings was held on December 9, 1999 in Crawfordville. (R. Vol. I, p. 59; OR Vol. XIX-XX, pp. 2200-2416) At the conclusion thereof, the jury recommended death by a vote of 10-2. (R. Vol. I, R. 59; OR Vol. XX 2415-2416, Vol. II, pp. 203, 204) On February 18, 2000, Judge Sauls sentenced Hertz to death for the murders and to various terms of incarceration for the other offenses of conviction. (R. Vol. I, p. 59; OR Vol. II, pp. 290-300)

On direct appeal, Hertz raised the following issues:

- 1. Venire person Free was impermissibly struck from the jury venire on the erroneous ground that her opposition to the death penalty rose to the level justifying exclusion under *Witherspoon v. Illinois*, 391 U.S. 510 (1968) and *Wainwright v. Witt*, 469 U.S. 412 (1985).
- 2. The trial court erred in finding that Hertz was competent to stand trial.
- 3. The trial court erred in admitting gruesome photographs of the victims, the scene of the crime, and the autopsy.
- 4. The details of the collateral crimes in Volusia County became an impermissible feature of the trial causing prejudice that outweighed its probative value in the case in chief.

- 5. The evidence adduced at trial was insufficient to convict the defendant of first-degree murder.
- 6. The statute authorizing the admission of victim impact evidence is unconstitutional in violation of Article V, Section 2, Florida Constitution, thus making the admission of the subject testimony unconstitutional and prejudicial.
- 7. The trial court erred in not requiring a unanimous verdict regarding the imposition of the death penalty.
- 8. Four of the seven statutory aggravating factors upon which the jury was instructed and which the trial court found to have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt were not legally applicable, and their consideration was not harmless error.
- 9. The death sentences received by the defendant were disproportionate to the life sentences Dempsey received. See Hertz v. State, 803 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 2001); R. Vol. I, p. 60.

On November 1, 2001, this Court affirmed the convictions, judgments, and sentences. *Hertz v. State*, 803 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 2001). On November 16, 2001, Hertz filed a motion for rehearing. On December 21, 2001, that motion was denied. On December 21, 2001 the mandate was issued. On June 28, 2002, a timely filed petition for writ of certiorari was

denied by the Supreme Court of the United States. *Hertz v. Florida*, 536 U.S. 963 (2003).

On June 30, 2003, Hertz filed his Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851 motion to vacate his judgments and death sentences. (Vol. I, R. 1-56) The state filed a detailed answer. (R. Vol. I, pp. 57-200; R. Vol. II, pp. 201-247) After a case management conference (Huff hearing),3 the defendant was permitted to file an amended motion setting forth in detail the essence of his claim that his defense counsel failed to properly present all mitigating evidence extant at the time of his state court trial. (R. Vol. II, pp. 309-316) The state filed a response denying this claim. (R. Vol. II, pp. 328-330) An evidentiary hearing was held on July 27, 2004 on the claim set forth in the amended motion for post conviction relief. (R. Vol. II, pp. 331-340, EH, p. 3-70; R. Vol. I, pp. 401-417, EH, p. 71-86) Dr. William Mosman, Ph. D., a forensic psychologist and member of the Florida Bar, testified for the defendant. (R. Vol. II, pp. 334-386; EH, p. 4-55) Robert Rand, Hertz' lead defense counsel, testified for the state. (R. Vol. II, pp. 386-400, R. Vol. III, pp. 401-416; EH, p. 55-86) The parties then submitted written closing arguments for the trial court's consideration. (R. Vol. III, pp. 418-491)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

## **D.** Disposition In The Lower Tribunal

On December 30, 2004, the trial court rendered a final order denying Hertz post conviction relief. (R. Vol. III, pp. 492-503) On January 10, 2005, Hertz filed a notice of appeal to this Honorable Court. (R. Vol. III, pp. 504, 505)

#### E. Statement Of The Facts

#### i. The Guilt/Innocence Phase Of The Trial

The basic facts of the case are set forth in this Court's decision in *Hertz v. State*, 803 So. 2d 629, 635-637 (Fla. 2001) that affirmed the judgments and death sentences:

In the early morning hours of July 27, 1997, the charred bodies of Melanie King and Robin Keith Spears were found in the victims' burning mobile home in Wakulla County, Florida. Hertz, Jason Looney, and Jimmy Dempsey were indicted on August 26, 1997 for the murders of the victims, and each codefendant was also charged with burglary of a dwelling while armed, armed robbery with a firearm, arson of a dwelling, and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. The offense date was determined to be July 27, 1997.

Prior to trial, codefendant Dempsey negotiated a plea with the state and received consecutive life terms in return for providing his testimony at Hertz and Looney's joint jury trial.

The trial commenced on November 29, 1999 and concluded on December 9, 1999. Hertz was represented at trial by Robert Rand, Esq. and Lynn Alan Thompson, Esq. Hertz did not testify during the innocence/guilt phase.

The evidence presented at the trial revealed the following facts:

At approximately 11:00 p.m. on July 26, 1997, Hertz and his codefendants left an acquaintance's house on foot within walking distance from the victims' home. All three men were armed with guns. A resident who lived about 500 yards from the victims testified that Hertz appeared at her door at about 2:00 a.m. asking to use her telephone claiming that his truck had broken down. When she refused, the trio continued down the road towards the victims' home and, upon seeing the victims' black Mustang, Looney said, "(t)here's my car right there. That's the one I want." Dempsey and Hertz went to the victims' front door as a decoy and asked if they could use the King provided them with a cordless phone, and Dempsey feigned making a phone call. When Dempsey attempted to return the phone, Hertz pointed his gun at King and forced his way in. Looney then entered and pointed his rifle at Spears. Spears and King were bound and gagged with duct tape and placed face down on their bed. Hertz and his codefendants removed a significant amount of the victims' property, including a VCR, a television, jewelry, furniture, and CDs, and loaded the victims' belongings into the victims' two vehicles. Looney also found approximately \$1500.00 of the victims' money in an envelope, which was ultimately divided equally among the three codefendants. Hertz and Looney concluded that they could leave no witnesses and informed Dempsey of their decision. Dempsey said Hertz and Looney then poured accelerants throughout the victims' home. three men, still armed, went to the bedroom where the victims were bound, side-by-side, and face-down on their bed. When they entered the back bedroom, King said that she would "rather die being burnt up than shot." She stated, "Please, God, don't shoot me in the head." Hertz replied, "(s)orry, can't do that" and proceeded to open fire. Looney followed and then Dempsey. The victims died as a result of the gunshot wounds. Subsequent to the shootings, the victims' home was set ablaze. Hertz drove away in the victims' white Ford Ranger, and Looney drove the victims' black Ford Mustang, with Dempsey as a passenger. According to Dempsey, the whole episode at the victims' home lasted about two hours.

The trio proceeded to Hertz' house, where they unloaded the stolen items and divided up the money. Two employees at the Wal-Mart in Tallahassee testified that the three men made purchases at the store at around 5:00 a.m. the morning of the murders, before showing off their new vehicles, i.e., a black Mustang and a white Ford Ranger, to both of the employees. A Wal-Mart receipt for a clothing purchase was later found in the victims' Mustang, corroborating the employees' testimony.

Hertz and his codefendants made their way to Daytona Beach Shores where, later that day, they were involved in a pursuit and shootout with police. Looney and Dempsey were arrested after abandoning and fleeing from the victims' black Mustang. Hertz abandoned the victims' Ford Ranger after being shot and paid a cab driver \$100.00 to drive him to his aunt's house in St. Augustine. Hertz was arrested that same day in St. Augustine, and the victim Spears' .9 mm gun was recovered from Hertz's bag. A firearms expert with the FDLE testified that one of the bullets recovered from the area of the victims' burned bed was fired from the .380 Lorcin handgun recovered from Looney at the time of his arrest in Daytona Beach, i.e., the same handgun owned by Keith Spears and used, according to Dempsey, by Hertz to shoot the victims. The other bullet was fired from a .30 caliber carbine rifle, consistent with the .30 caliber rifle used by Looney to shoot the victims and later recovered in the victims' Mustang. A roll of duct tape, Looney's wallet with \$464.00, and Dempsey's wallet with \$380.00 were also found in the Mustang. A fingerprint analyst with the FDLE studied latent fingerprints taken from the Mustang and concluded that Hertz and his codefendants had all touched the car. chemist found evidence of various accelerants on items of clothing found in the Mustang. In addition, a law enforcement investigator with the State Fire Marshal's Office testified that the kind of damage that was done by the fire does not happen unless an accelerant is used. The state medical examiner testified that the bodies were severely burned. He graphically detailed the condition of the bodies as depicted in the photographs: the legs were burned off below the knees, the hands were burned to nubs, the bones of the arms were fractured by the fire, and the skulls were burned partially away.

The victims had to be positively identified by dental records. The medical examiner also testified that there could have been other injuries that were not detected due to the extensive burns. King was shot at least two times in the head, which caused her death. However, the medical examiner was not able to trace the path of the bullet because the skull had burned away. He testified that it was possible that other bullets struck the body, which could not be determined because of the fire. King lived one to two minutes after she was shot. However, there was no soot in the trachea, indicating that she was not alive when the fire started.

Spears was shot at least one time in the head, which caused his death. The bullet went in the back of the neck and exited above the right eye. Spears also lived one to two minutes after he was shot, and again, no soot was discovered in his trachea, meaning that he was dead at the time of the fire. The defense did not present any evidence during the guilt phase of the trial. A jury convicted both Hertz and Looney of the first-degree murders of King and Spears, burglary of a dwelling while armed with a firearm, armed robbery with a firearm, arson of a dwelling, and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony.

## ii. The Penalty Phase

In his opening statement at the beginning of the penalty phase, State Attorney Willie Meggs enumerated seven distinct aggravating factors found in Section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes, that he claimed applied to the facts in the case: (1) Hertz was on probation at the time the crime was committed; (2) he had been convicted of a felony involving violence prior to the sentencing date; (3) he committed the homicides during a burglary, a robbery or the crime of arson; (4) the homicides were committed to avoid

arrest; (5) the defendant committed the homicides for financial gain; (6) the two first-degree murders were heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (7) the defendant committed the crimes in a cold, calculated and premeditated fashion. (OR Vol. XIX, pp. 2203-2205) In his opening statement, Rand did not reference any of the statutory mitigating factors set forth in Section 921.141(6), Florida Statutes. (OR Vol. XIX, pp. 2209-2211) Instead, defense counsel discussed various conditions of Hertz' life, focusing on his childhood. Among other things, Rand noted that Hertz was born to deaf parents. They were heavily involved in drug use. Growing up, Hertz was passed between relatives and social service agencies. (OR Vol. XIX, p. 2210)

The State called Reginald Byrd as its first witness. (OR Vol. XIX, p. 2211) He was a probation officer with the Florida Department of Corrections, Probation and Parole Services, and was supervising Hertz. He was still on probation on July 7, 1997, the day of the homicides committed in this case. (OR Vol. XIX, p. 2212)

The state then called Karen King, the mother of the slain Melanie King. She read a victim impact statement prepared by her and other family members. (OR Vol. XIX, p. 2215) Melanie was attending Tallahassee Community College's school of nursing and working full time with the

Florida Lottery. King had to accept Melanie's nursing pin for her at her graduation. Melanie planned to work in the field of pediatrics. (OR Vol. XIX, p. 2216)

The state next called Janet Spears, Keith Spears' mother. She also presented a victim impact statement. Keith was her only son. (OR Vol. XIX, p. 2219) He was a partner in his family's business. He was very close to his sister Angie, and they discussed raising their future children together. (OR Vol. XIX, p. 2220)

The state rested.

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