IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GUERRY WAYNE HERTZ,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-59

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR WAKULLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Trial Court's Findings

In its order denying Kimbrough's 3.850 motion, the court devoted eight pages to the resolution of Kimbrough's Ake claim and set forth its factual findings. The court agreed that Cashman misunderstood the significance of the psychopathic deviate scale but noted that Sims, who understood the scale, concurred with striking Mings. The court held that the decision not to call Mings and Berland was a reasonable trial tactic.

* * *

As to the potential mitigation found by Mosman, the court noted that he did not conduct any independent testing and that there were no witnesses at the evidentiary hearing who could have presented direct evidence regarding these potential mitigators. The court further concluded that many of the mitigators cited by Mosman would have been given little or no weight.

See also <u>Henry v. State</u>, 862 So.2d 679 (Fla. 2003) (Dr. Mosman's testimony was rejected because there was not substantial evidences to support his findings at the post conviction evidentiary hear); and <u>Farrell v. State</u>, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 1297, 30 Fla.L.Weekly S457 (Fla. June 16, 2005), wherein the Court held:

In the instant case, the record supports the trial court's conclusion that there was no particularized need for the SPECT scan. The postconviction experts independently determined that Ferrell suffered from

the same injury, i.e., mild to moderate diffuse brain damage to the frontal lobe caused by chronic alcohol abuse. While the scan would have confirmed the experts' diagnoses, it was not necessary in formulating their medical opinions about his brain damage. Further, Ferrell cannot show any prejudice from the trial court's denial of the SPECT scan. His experts were still able to testify that he had mild to moderate brain damage, which was consistent with the testimony presented at trial. The scan would not provided any additional information about have Ferrell's functional impairment than that presented. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying this request.

Ferrell's claim that counsel rendered As to ineffective assistance in not requesting a SPECT scan in 1992, we agree with the trial court that he is not entitled to relief. Under the Strickland standard, Ferrell must prove both deficient performance by counsel and prejudice from this deficiency. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). There was no evidence that such scans were being ordered in capital cases in Florida in 1992. Thus, counsel's failure to scan not obtain а was deficient performance. In addition there is no reasonable probability that the presentation of a scan would have resulted in a different outcome here. The jury Upson's testimony heard Dr. and was aware of Ferrell's problems. The scan results could have confirmed Dr. Upson's diagnosis of brain damage but were not necessary in forming that diagnosis. Thus, Ferrell was not prejudiced by any alleged failure of counsel in this regard. Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's denial of postconviction relief on this claim.

Defense counsel "individualized" the mitigation during the penalty phase of the trial by presenting the family history, medical records, school records, and the many difficulties that had befallen Hertz. Mr. Rand was successful in convincing the trial court that at least two statutory mitigating factors were applicable as well as a number of non-statutory factors.

The jury was provided materials summarizing the evidence and the life of Hertz and at closing was told that Hertz life was wasted and ruined. Rand reminded the jury about Hertz's background, his physical disabilities and his lack of education. Defense counsel personalized Hertz by showing the jury pictures of Hertz as a little boy and talking about the pain in that little boy's eyes because he was not loved or nurtured. He reminded the jury that Hertz was conceived to keep his parents out of prison and that Hertz was passed around and treated with indifference.

Rand told the jury that Hertz was no worst than Dempsey who received a life sentence and that they should all be treated the same. He observed that it was very sad to hear about the murders of Keith Spears and Melanie King and to hear their mothers express pain and loss, but it was also sad because Hertz never had anything from his family, no love, no nurturing, no medical treatment, just indifference. (OR XX 2394-2402)

Defense counsel provided the jury with a complete portrait of Hertz and his life, which allowed the jury to

- 45 -

consider an unlimited array of factors in determining the sentence to recommend. Hertz's parents and sibling detail the living conditions that Hertz faced his entire life and Dr. D'Errico, a forensic psychologist, detailed all of Hertz's medical and mental history.

Finally at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, defense counsel called Hertz's mother who testified it would be unfair to give him death because it was Dempsey who killed the people. Hertz also took the stand and asked the families of the victims to forgive him and that he would never get out of jail. He observed that he wanted to tell his brothers to stay out of trouble and live their lives trouble-free.

A. Failure To Fully Develop And Present The Diminished Capacity Statutory Mitigator Per 921.141(6)(f), Florida Statutes

The record below reflects that the jury was instructed as to three mitigating factors, including "diminished capacity to appreciate the criminality of Hertz's conduct". Hertz's is now suggesting that defense counsel was not "forceful enough" in arguing the availability of the mitigation to the jury and the trial court-"the trial court gave the mitigator only 'some' weight; (OR Vol. II, pp. 295-300)" (App. Brief p. 49), and "[T]his powerful evidence would certainly have caused the jury and the trial court to find Hertz' capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct...was substantially impaired...." (App. Brief p. 51).

First, the jury heard the evidence presented pertaining to this mitigator.⁹ Whatever weight was given by jurors is not quantifiable, since the jurors are not required to divulge what mitigation they embraced. Moreover the trial court found this mitigating circumstance, observing only that the evidence did not support a finding that "his conduct was substantially impaired, accordingly, while entitled to some weight it was not entitled to moderate weight." (OR II 296).

Trial courts have the sound discretion to determine what weight, if any, to accord to mitigating factors. <u>Stephens v.</u> <u>State</u>, 787 So.2d 747, 761 (Fla. 2001). This Court has held

In Hertz, 803 So.2d at 637-38, the Court recapped the mitigation found at trial: "In mitigation, the trial court found (1) Hertz's impaired capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was given some weight; (2) his age of 20, which was given only moderate weight; (3) as to all other nonstatutory mitigation, (a) Hertz's difficult childhood was given significant weight; (b) the fact that Hertz had no significant criminal history or no history of violence and the fact that he posed no problems since being incarcerated were given marginal weight; (c) that Hertz's remorse and the fact that he cried during some of the testimony and when he made his statement to the court was given moderate weight; (d) the fact that society would be adequately protected if he were to be given a life sentence without the possibility of parole was entitled to "no weight" and (e) the fact that a codefendant, Dempsey, received a life sentence following a plea, was given significant weight and substantially considered by the trial court.

that it will sustain a trial court's assessment of the weight given to a mitigating factor absent an abuse of discretion and when the evidence supports the conclusions. Anderson v. State, 863 So.2d 169, 178 (Fla. 2003). Because trial courts are in the best position to observe the unique circumstances of a case, they have broad discretion in their decisions as to how much weight to assign to a particular mitigator. Foster v. State, 679 So.2d 747, 755 (Fla. 1996)("As long as the court considered all the evidence, the of trial judge's determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion."); Barnhill v. State, 834 So.2d 836, 853 (Fla. 2002) (Because the trial judge has discretion to determine the relative weight to give to each established mitigator, and that ruling will not be disturbed if supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record, Spencer v. State, 691 So.2d 1062, 1064 (Fla. 1996); Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 646 (Fla. 1995), and because the judge's sentencing order shows that he relied on competent, substantial evidence, we reject Barnhill's arguments concerning the weight to be given the mitigators.)

Second, to the extent, Hertz is arguing that Dr. Sesta should also have been called at the penalty phase rather than just Dr. D'Errico, merely challenges defense counsel's

- 48 -

strategy as to the penalty phase presentation. The trial court in denying postconviction relief, found that defense counsel had a reasonable strategy for not calling Dr. Sesta and that conclusion went unrefuted at the evidentiary hearing and based on the record.¹⁰ The court observed:

"...Rand had worked with Dr. D'Errico before and was very impressed with his work and ability to testify. He (Rand) was concerned about calling Dr. Sesta as a witness at trial due to his actions during the earlier competency hearing proceedings. After seeing what happened to Dr. Sesta on cross examination therein he decided that the doctor was not a good witness and not that helpful. Amonq other things, Dr. Sesta testified as to possible frontal lobe damage on direct examination, then essentially backed off of that testimony upon cross examination. Thus, Rand called Dr. E'rrico (sic) has (sic) the only expert witness during the penalty phase of the trial."

(Order dated December 30, 2004, p 8).

Moreover, to the extent that Hertz now argues that the only evidence of "brain dysfunction" would have been presented to the jury and trial court was via Dr. Sesta, such an assertion is in error. The trial court correctly found that "[T]he record reflects that Dr. Sesta, a neuropsychologist did not find brain 'damage'." (Order December 30, 2004, p. 6).¹¹

¹⁰ See PCR II 395-396.

¹¹ Dr. Sesta was hired pre-trial to assess whether any cerebral functioning problems existed, (OR III 361-363), and testified at Hertz's competency hearing. He diagnosed ADHD (OR III 367), after administering a number of tests, concluded

The record also reflects that through lay witnesses and Dr. D'Errico, in particular, at the penalty phase, evidence was presented that Hertz had ADHD and had suffered all his life from this disorder. (OR XIX 2314-15) Hertz' childhood was characterized by abuse, humiliation, low self-esteem and poor self-image and he was born with a club foot. (OR XIX 2318).

Dr. D'Errico testified that Hertz had a normal full scale IQ of 91, but observed that it was noteworthy that there as a 39 point spread between Hertz' verbal IQ of 79 and his performance IQ of 118 which "suggested some brain damage", however, neurological testing¹² demonstrated that this was due

On cross-examination at the competency hearing, Dr. Sesta admitted that Hertz could function well at times, could control his actions when he wanted to, was lucid, and could understand his circumstances. Dr. Sesta admitted that Hertz had no Axis I mental illness, no schizophrenia or bipolar disorder, and could be malingering. (OR III 385-391).

¹² It was Dr. D'Errico who recommended that a neurological assessment be made, regarding the disparate numbers as to the IQ. Dr. Sesta at the competency hearing testified that any in explaining the variances in Hertz's mental agility there was

that Hertz suffered from a mild cerebral dysfunction; that left his left side was poorer than his right side and that Hertz's frontal lobe was less than it should be. (OR III 371) Hertz's condition presented a Neurodeficient Development Disorder (NDD) however; there was no neurological disease or trauma. The NDD was based in part on Hertz's non-verbal upbringing, a learning disability and ADHD.(OR III 372-373). Hertz would improve with psychopharmacological treatments. (OR III 375, 382).

to a developmental reason; Hertz was raised in an environment where the spoken language was not used¹³ and he suffered from ADHD. (OR XIX 2318-2319). Hertz suffered from suicidal ideations, had a temper problem and trouble with interpersonal relationships.¹⁴ Hertz likely had an "unspecified cognitive disorder". (OR XIX 2320-2321). On cross-examination, Dr. D'Errico admitted that Hertz knew what he was doing and the consequences of his conduct, however, he observed that Hertz was impulsive and suffered from ADHD which may have lessened his awareness of the consequences. (OR XIX 2323).

Third, at the postconviction evidentiary hearing Dr. Mosman, disagreed with Dr. D'Errico's assessment of Dr. Sesta's report concerning the nature of the "cerebral dysfunction", to wit: variance in verbal verses performance IQ numbers. However Dr. Mosman, "was not aware of any type of brain scan indicating definitely that the defendant had brain

some neurodeficient developmental disorder due in part to Hertz's upbringing in a non-verbal household. (OR III 371-373).

¹³ This was the same assessment made by Dr. Sesta.

¹⁴ His modus operandi was to act disruptive if something happened to a relationship. For example, Hertz purportedly overdosed on his Ritalin medication and was hospitalized following his breakup with a girlfriend. However on cross, in discussing Hertz' suicide attempt, the doctor admitted that Hertz was released after five days of treatment in the hospital with no follow-up. (OR XIX 2324). damage and he did concede that the bottom line differentiation between his conclusions and Dr. D'Errico was that he interpreted the data one way and Dr. D'Errico another...." (Order December 30, 2004 p 7).¹⁵

A different conclusion from a "new doctor" at postconviction does not make out a case of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Pietri v. State</u>, 885 So.2d 245, 265-66

(Fla. 2004):

We noted that the defendant had failed to at the postconviction demonstrate, hearing, an inadequacy in the penalty phase testimony of the defendant's mental health expert, and the defendant simply presented additional mental had health experts who came to different conclusions than the penalty phase expert. See id. at 320. There, we reasoned: "The evaluation by Dr. Anis is not competent, however, rendered less than simply because appellant has been able to provide testimony to conflict with that presented by Dr. Anis." Id. Further, we held that the defendant had failed to demonstrate that he suffered prejudice because "although the court found statutory or no nonstatutory mitigation, by virtue of the testimony of Dr. Anis, the sentencing jury was aware of most of the nonstatutory mitigation regarding appellant's impoverished and abusive childhood. The jury was also aware of appellant's abuse of alcohol and excessive use of marijuana." Id. at 321; see also 755 So.2d 616, 636 Brown v. State, (Fla. 2000) (Strickland standard not satisfied where mental testified health expert during postconviction hearing that even if he had been provided with additional background information, his penalty phase testimony would have been the same); Rose v. State,

¹⁵ See PCR II 379-383. Dr. Mosman ultimately concluded that Hertz was "neurologically deficient". (PCR II 385).

617 So.2d 291, 295 (Fla. 1993) ("The fact that Rose has now obtained a mental health expert whose diagnosis differs from that of the defense's trial expert does not establish that the original insufficient."); evaluation was Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So.2d 541, 546 (Fla. 1990) (holding prejudice not demonstrated where mental health testimony would have been largely repetitive; also, fact that defendant had secured an expert who could offer more favorable testimony based upon additional background information not provided to the original mental health expert was an insufficient basis for relief).

See also <u>Davis v. State</u>, 875 So.2d 359, 371 (Fla. 2003).

And finally, any possible error based on Dr. Mosman's testimony as to brain dysfunction would be harmless.¹⁶ See: Arbelaez v. State, 898 So.2d 25, 37 (Fla. 2005):

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